RULES Q&A FOR WFTDA 1/1/13 RULESET
Jammer Cutting Jammer (2)
Q: If Jammer A knocks opposing Jammer B out of bounds and begins skating clockwise around the track, where may Jammer B re-enter with relation to Jammer A, and is there a physical component to that position?
A: Jammer B must re-enter legally, in this case behind Jammer A. To fulfill this requirement, she may have to physically skate clockwise along with Jammer A. However, there are limitations to this requirement.
If Jammer A is knocked down or out of bounds, or skates out of bounds for other reasons, Jammer B may legally re-enter where she is, even if she never skated clockwise at all. (Jammer B may opt to stand still and either wait for one of these things to happen, for Jammer A to be sent to the penalty box, or for Jammer A to skate back towards her in the counterclockwise direction.) In addition, the furthest that Jammer B would ever need to skate clockwise is one lap. Even if Jammer A were to skate four laps in the clockwise direction (in relation to the pack), Jammer B would only need to skate one lap clockwise (in relation to the pack) while out of bounds to “catch up”; laps are not cumulative. Similarly, if Jammer A were to skate clockwise for four laps, then counterclockwise for one, Jammer B could legally re-enter after that single counterclockwise lap, having never moved.
In all cases where Jammer A remains upright and in bounds, when Jammer B re-enters, Jammer A must be closer to the pack in the counterclockwise direction than Jammer B.
Updated 4/24/13.
Blocking During a No Pack
Q: During a No Pack, the foremost Blocker continues to hold the opposing Jammer back while her teammates are satisfying the requirement to attempt to reform. The Blocker doesn't force a loss of position, but she does impede the Jammer's progress and stops her from being able to gain position. Does she receive a penalty?
A: As long as the pack immediately reforms (see Sections 4.1, 6.10.7) and the Blocker’s blocking does not force the receiving opposing skater down or out of bounds (see Section 6.10.17), there is no penalty for continuing to block during a No Pack. Should the pack not immediately reform, a Blocker who has continued to actively block an opposing skater will be penalized for initial failure to reform (see Section 6.10.13). If more than one blocker is actively blocking during a No Pack, subsequent sustained failure to reform penalties may be levied (see Section 6.10.16), depending on how long it takes for the team’s Blockers to satisfy their requirements to reform the pack.
Applicable Rules: 4.1, 6.10.7, 6.10.17, 6.10.13, 6.10.16. Updated 4/24/13.
Jammers Cutting a Down, Out of Play, or Out of Bounds Skater
Q: Is a Jammer who is blocked out of bounds subject to cutting penalties for skaters who are down, out of bounds, or out of play when the jammer exits the track?
A: A Jammer is required to return behind the initiator of the block—exceptions being 6.11.1.1-6.11.1.4—and cutting any other skaters is subject to cutting penalties as stated in 6.11.10 and 6.11.11, except in the following scenarios:
A Jammer is allowed to re-enter in front of skaters who are down, out of play having left the Engagement Zone, or out of bounds at the moment of the Jammer's re-entry.
If the out of bounds Jammer passes any opposing skater who is down, out of bounds, or out of play having left the Engagement Zone, at the moment the Jammer passes the skater’s hips it will be considered No Pass/No Penalty.
A Jammer can leave the track to avoid a downed skater because they were down (6.11.4). This does not include skaters adjacent to those down skaters.
The same guidelines apply to Blockers.
For cutting penalties during a No Pack see Section 6.11.3.2.
Applicable Rules: 6.11.1.1, 6.11.1.2, 6.11.1.3, 6.11.1.4, 6.11.10, 6.11.11, 6.11.3.2. Updated 4/24/13.
Pivot-turned-Jammer and Lead Jammer Status
Q: Is a Pivot-turned-Jammer able to become Lead Jammer?
A: A Pivot-turned-Jammer cannot gain Lead Jammer status, only point-scoring ability is transferred during the Passing of the Star.
Applicable Rules: Section 3.5 - Passing the Star. Updated 2/13/13.
Jammer Cutting Jammer
Q: Is one Jammer cutting the opposing Jammer outside of the engagement zone a Major penalty or a no-pass/no-penalty situation?
A: It is illegal for a player to cut anyone who may legally engage them, which normally bounds cutting penalties to within the Engagement Zone. However, because Jammers may engage one another outside the Engagement Zone, it is always illegal (and a Major penalty) for them to cut one another, excepting when the initiating Jammer falls down or goes out of bounds themselves.
Relevant Rules: 5.1.3, 6.10.3, 6.11.10. Updated 1/17/13.
Passing While Airborne
Q: In order to score points while airborne, does a Jammer need to "stick" the landing?
A: In order to score points while airborne, the Jammer must establish contact feet-first and in-bounds at the moment of landing. A Jammer satisfies this requirement if any part of her foot or skate is the first point of contact upon landing, with no part of her body touching out of bounds at the point of initial contact with the track. Thus, if any part of her foot/skate has touched in-bounds at the moment of initial contact upon landing, she has immediately satisfied this requirement. Anything that happens after this point (falling, stepping out of bounds, etc.) is irrelevant to scoring, but will be taken into account for other rules purposes (such as cutting the track, low blocking, etc).
Example: Jammer is completely in-bounds and ceases contact with the track as part of an apex jump. The first part of her body to contact the floor is her right foot, which makes contact in-bounds. Her left foot then lands out of bounds. This jammer will be eligible to receive points for all opposing skaters passed while airborne, but will also be eligible for a cut track should she re-enter play in front of opposing skaters passed while airborne.
Relevant Rules: 8.3.1.2. Updated 1/17/13.
Can a Jammer Ever be Penalized for pack Destruction?
Q: Can a Jammer ever be penalized for pack destruction?
A: The WFTDA Rules Committee feels the Q&A previously issued concerning a Jammer receiving an assist from her Blocker, which results in pack destruction applies here, and an additional Publication on this is not needed. In these situations, the Blocker that causes the pack to be destroyed is given the penalty.
See: Assist Which Causes a No Pack Q&A. Updated 9/10/12.
Penalized Inactive Jammer During Star Pass
Q: If during the time between the star pass and the Pivot placing the star on her helmet, the inactive Jammer is sent to the box for a penalty, what position will the inactive Jammer serve his/her penalty as?
A: The inactive Jammer must serve his/her penalty as the inactive Jammer. Once he/she is released from the box the Pivot may place the star on his/her helmet and become the Jammer or he/she may return the star to the Jammer. While the Jammer is in the penalty box the Pivot may not place the Jammer cover on his/her helmet. If the Pivot does the referee must tell him/her that he/she is the Pivot (and not the Jammer) and must remove the Jammer Cover. A Pivot who does not follow the referee's instruction shall receive an insubordination major.
Applicable Rules: 3.5.5 and 3.5.8.1.1. Updated 10/13/10.
Star Pass and Engagement Zone
Q: Assuming that the physical transfer of the star happened legally (in play), may a Pivot place the star on his/her helmet (thus completing the “star pass”) while out of bounds or out of play?
A: The Pivot need not be in the engagement zone to place the star on his/her helmet. It is only required that the star pass take place in the engagement zone. However, until the star is on the Pivot's helmet and he/she has become the Jammer all out of play penalties still apply.
Applicable Rules: 3.5.1 and 3.5.9.1. Updated 10/13/10.
Pack Destruction Prior to Jam Start Whistle
Q: Can Blockers illegally destroy the pack and receive a major penalty prior to the Jam Start Whistle?
A: No, it is legal for Blockers to line up in such a way that there is no pack. However, Blockers must immediately reform a pack or penalties will be given per Section 6.10.
Applicable Rules: 4.2 and 6.10. Updated 10/5/10.
Both Jam Refs Award Lead Jammer
Q: Both scoring referees award and signal Lead Jammer status to their Jammers (the second, mistakenly). If the second Jammer successfully calls off the jam (incorrectly believing she is the Lead Jammer), should she be assessed a penalty?
A: No. It is only a penalty for a Jammer who is NOT Lead Jammer to call off a jam (6.13.25). If both Jammers are awarded Lead Jammer status, even in error, then an appropriate use of referee discretion should be to dismiss any penalty assessment.
Applicable Rules: 6.13.25 A Jammer successfully calling off a jam without establishing Lead Jammer status. Updated 9/4/10.
Assist Which Causes No Pack
[bookmark: _GoBack]Q: Should an assist which results in a no pack situation be penalized for illegally destroying the pack?
Situation: 4 green Blockers are 8 feet in front of 1 white Blocker. The remaining white Blockers are 4 feet behind the front-most white Blocker. The front-most white Blocker assists her Jammer. As a result of the assist the front-most white blocker abruptly slows down, destroying the pack and is now 12 feet behind the green Blocker.
A: Per 6.10.18 the front-most white Blocker must be given an out of play major for illegally destroying the pack. Regardless of who initiated the assist, her abrupt change in speed caused a no pack situation and the front-most white Blocker must be penalized. 
Applicable Rules: 6.10.18. Updated 8/31/10.
Penalty Box Rights and Restrictions
Q: Is it legal to enter the penalty box to hand a penalized skater water?
A: It is only a penalty to enter the designated penalty box area to communicate with a penalized skater. Communicating is the passing of information. You may communicate with a skater in the penalty box from outside the designated penalty box area.
Applicable Rules: 6.13.20, 7.2.4, 7.2.4.1. Updated 7/6/10.
RULES PUBLICATIONS FOR WFTDA 1/1/13 RULESET
Jammerless Jam
If a Jammer is in the penalty box when a jam starts, and the opposing team fails to field a Jammer in the new jam, preventing a jam from beginning, a Delay of Game penalty will be assessed to that team's Captain.
This should happen immediately at the end of the 30-second line-up time, before the new jam has started.The team that did not field a Jammer will be able to field a Jammer in the new jam, allowing the game to continue. If both teams fail to field a Jammer, preventing a jam from beginning, both team's Captains will be assessed a Delay of Game penalty. This should happen immediately at the end of the 30-second line-up time, before the new jam has started. Any subsequent delays may fall under 9.2.7.1.2.
Relevant Rules: 7.3.5, 6.15.3. Updated 1/17/13.
Skating Out of Bounds
The game of Roller Derby has strict boundaries, and the game must be played within those bounds. However, that does not mean that every instance of skating outside those boundaries constitutes a penalizable violation of the rules.
A skater who is coasting is, by definition, losing speed. Therefore, in order for them to, at the same time, maintain or increase their lap speed, they would need to be shortening the lap distance. The rules assign a Major penalty to a skater who "substantially cuts short the lap distance�," and this should be the metric used in dealing with a skater who may have only exited the track while trying to skate close to the line. A single incident of minimal skating out of bounds need not be penalized with a Major penalty.
This is not to say that a single incident cannot rise to Major penalty status. If the amount shortened constitutes, in the referee's assessment, a "substantial" amount, it should immediately be penalized. It should also not be taken to mean that so long as a skater only goes out of bounds a little, they should never be penalized. A skater who repeatedly exits the track in a manner which results in a noticeable (though not immediately penalizable) shortening of their lap may, in the course of a game, end up cutting short their cumulative lap length by a "substantial"� amount and thus warrant a penalty. Again, this will be up to the judgement of the referee observing the action.
Additionally, a skater who strides or performs a cross-over while touching out of bounds is using their out of bounds positioning to gain or maintain speed and should be penalized for skating out of bounds. A skater who is entirely in bounds and voluntarily skates entirely out of bounds during a jam should always be penalized for skating out of bounds (barring those exemptions listed in 6.12.2 and 6.12.4). Updated 1/17/13. 
Can a Pivot that is in Queue for the Penalty Box Receive a Star Pass?
Q: Can a Pivot that is in queue for the penalty box receive a star pass?
A: No, a Pivot that is waiting to report to the penalty box may not legally receive a star pass. If a star pass is completed to a Pivot in queue, the pass is illegal and a major Illegal Procedure will be assessed to the initiator of the pass. Updated 9/9/12.
Injured Skater Returns Before Three Jams
Q: How should referees handle a skater who previously had a jam called off prematurely due to injury, but returns to the track before she sit out three jams?
A: It is a safety concern for skaters to enter play before they have sat out the required 3 jams after it's been called off due to their injury. Do not start the jam with the injured skater on the track. Once the 30 seconds between jams has elapsed, call for an Official Time Out and send the skater back to her bench as well as issue an Insubordination Major to the captain. The exception to this is if the Official believes there is a serious safety risk to the injured skaters or other skaters they should send the injured skater back to her bench immediately without having to wait the full 30 seconds. Updated 9/9/12.
Jammer Lap Points
Q: After Jammer 1 has been lapped by Jammer 2, if Jammer 1 then "catches up" to Jammer 2 by completing that pass and then passing her on the following scoring pass, should Jammer 1 be awarded a lap point?
A: There is no running lap count. As long as Jammer 1 catches up, and then laps Jammer 2, she will get the lap point. Updated 9/9/12.
Positions and Penalties
Q: Does a skater have a position (Blocker, Pivot, Jammer) to be penalized in between jams or may she serve at whatever position she identifies herself as in the subsequent jam?
A: You retain your position until the next jam starts, thus any penalties committed after the 4th whistle are still served by the position you had in the previous jam. Skaters coming on the track for the next jam would serve as a Blocker if they commit a penalty, because they don't have any position until that new jam starts. Updated 9/9/12.
Is a Skater Ever Compelled to Skate Clockwise?
Q: Is a skater ever compelled to skate clockwise?
A: Yes. If the pack is moving clockwise the skater that is out of play is required to skate clockwise to rejoin. If the pack is stopped, she is compelled to skate clockwise to rejoin. If the pack is moving at all counterclockwise, the skater is not compelled to skate clockwise to rejoin. Updated 9/9/12.



Destroying the Pack
Q: If the pack is moving clockwise and one team comes to a stop are they subject to destruction penalties?
A: The rules establish a Direction of Gameplay, and the basic idea that both teams work together to establish the pack speed. If the pack is moving clockwise, a team that slows or stops should not be penalized if the pack is subsequently destroyed, so long as it is not sudden, as it is an example of “normal gameplay.” However, if the team destroys the pack by skating away from the pack counterclockwise, this change is sudden and should be penalized if it results in a pack destruction.
If the pack is stopped, and one team begins skating slowly away counterclockwise no penalty for destruction should be given, again because this is normal gameplay. However, if the team sprints forward suddenly they should be penalized if it results in a pack destruction. Updated 9/9/12.
Out of Bounds Player at Jam Start
Q: Should a skater with any part of her body or equipment touching out of bounds when the jam start whistle blows be allowed to play in the jam?
A: A skater who is not completely in-bounds at the Jam start (this includes straddling skaters) has no position on the track, and therefore she should be considered “not on the track” if the jam begins with her in that position. As a result, she should not be allowed to play in the jam and should be sent back to her bench as described by rule 2.4.4.1.1 and 2.4.4.2.1. To participate in a jam, a skater must be making contact exclusively in-bounds, the only exception to this would be as noted in rule 6.13.6. Updated 9/9/12.
Two Sets of Different Color Helmet Covers
Teams must have two sets of different color helmet covers available at a WFTDA sanctioned bout.
In the specific instance that the color of a team’s helmet cover is identical in color to the base color of a team’s helmets, an opposing team may challenge the use of those helmet covers if the design of a team’s helmets contain elements that could be confused as a Jammer star or a Pivot stripe. In the event of a challenge by the opposing team, the Head Referee must require use of the alternate color covers if the standard laid out above has been met. If the colors are not identical but very similar, the Head Referee may enforce the helmet cover switch, but is not required to.
Example: A team wearing matching black helmets with a silver design on each side of the helmet is using black Jammer and Pivot helmet covers with silver stars and Pivot stripes. If contested by the opposing team, the black helmet team must wear an alternate cover (non-black) to eliminate any confusion of skater positions.
A number on a helmet cannot be confused for a star; however, that does not include numbers surrounded by logos or any design surrounding a number. Updated 7/28/11.
Captain Fouls Out
When a team no longer has a skating Captain (C) due to expulsion, fouling out, injury, or emergency (in all cases the C is unable to skate the remainder of the bout), the team has the option to name a new Captain. The Designated Alternate (A) must stay the Designated Alternate and may not be named the new Captain. The skater that is newly designated the Captain will serve in that capacity for the remainder of the bout, or until she is expelled, has fouled out, or is injured. The onus is on the team to designate a new Captain, and to inform the Head Referee who is to be designated the C, it is not the Head Referee’s duty. Additionally, a team may not designate a new Alternate (skating or non-skating) should the A be unable to skate/coach/manage the remainder of the bout for the reasons listed.
If a situation arises where a team has not designated a new Captain and a penalty calls for the Captain to serve a penalty, the decision of who is to be designated the Captain may be made by the team at that time. If they choose not to designate a Captain, in the instances where the rules call for a Captain to serve a penalty, the Head Referee will select the skater to be designated Captain for the remainder of the bout and serve any applicable penalties. The Head Referee may only do this if the team refuses to designate a Captain. Updated 6/21/11.
Skating Referee Configuration
Q: Is a 5:2 referee configuration allowed by the Rules?
A: The Head Referee is a title or designation per 9.1.2. It is not a referee position or station. Per 9.1.3 there are two Jammer Referees and per 9.1.4 the remaining referees are Pack Referees. Per 9.1.4.1 no more than two Pack Referees can be stationed on the inside of the track. Per the rules, no more than 2 Pack Referees may be stationed on the inside of the track. Refereeing under a 5:2 ref configuration is against the rules and is not sanctionable. Updated 2/8/11.
Unopposed Jammer False Starts
Q: If a Jammer begins a jam without an opposing Jammer on the line and she false starts, is she still required to yield? Should it automatically be a major?
A: An unopposed Jammer must yield the illegally gained position. She does this by coming to a complete stop ceasing all forward momentum. If she does not yield by coming to a complete stop, the false start will be a Major. If a Jammer is in between the Pivot and Jammer starting lines at the time the Jam starting whistle is blown, regardless of who she is front of, she will have false started, and must yield. The Jammer must yield her position to the opposing Jammer if there is one on the track. If there is no opposing Jammer on the track, the Jammer must come to a complete stop and yield her advantage on the pack. If she fails to stop, the false start will be a Major. Blockers may legally engage a false-starting Jammer who is between the Jammer and Pivot lines at the Jam Starting whistle. Updated 10/28/10.
No Additional Jam after Official Timeout
Q: Should an Official Timeout (a time out initiated by the referees) that is taken after the previous jam ends with 30 seconds or less left in a period trigger an additional jam to be run?
A: No. If the previous jam ends with 30 seconds or less remaining in a period, the Head Referee should not call an Official Timeout and should let the game clock run to zero (0:00) if neither team uses a timeout or an Official Review. Only a team timeout or an Official Review initiated by a team (if a team has either to use) can trigger an additional jam per 2.3.4. If the Head Referee must call an Official Timeout during that time, the remaining time on the clock will expire after the Official Timeout and the period and/or game will end. Updated 9/25/10.
Multiple Player Blocks
Q: If my teammate and I are side by side, shoulder touching shoulder, but we are holding each other together with our hands in front of our hips (the link not making contact with the opponent we are blocking) is it an illegal multi-player block?
A: In order for a referee to make a multiple player block call he/she must see the following: 
1. Grasping, joining, linking, etc. of one or more teammates together. This can be active by all parties (ie, linking arms) or can be passive on one or more of their parts (ie, one skater grabbing the jerseys of the teammates on either side of her).
To further clarify the link must be grabbing or holding that joins the skaters together. An open hand touch, by itself, is not a link.
2. Form a wall.
3. Impede an opponent.
Per 6.7.4 the link must be that which impedes the opponent. This does not mean that the link must be physically touching the opposing skater. This means that the link must be in front of the direction/pathway of the opposing skater. Even if the linked skaters have body parts (shoulders, hips etc.) that are between the link and the opposing skater the link is still impeding the opposing skater and must be called as a multiple player block.
The answer to the specific scenario in the question is, yes that is an illegal multiple player block. However, if the skaters involved do not link/grasp/hold each other, but are just touching each other this would be a legal action. Updated 9/23/10.
Blocking after the 4th Whistle
Q: Section 6 does not specify what the penalty is for blocking after the whistle. How should a hit after the fourth whistle ending the jam be called?
A: A skater initiating contact or engaging an opponent after the fourth whistle of the jam that slightly forces the receiving skater off balance, forward or sideways but does not cause her to fall should be considered a no-impact scenario. A skater initiating contact or engaging an opponent after the fourth whistle of the jam that severely forces the receiving skater off balance, forward or sideways should be called as an illegal procedure major penalty. Any contact above this which is negligent, reckless and/or intentional should be called as a gross misconduct expulsion. Updated 9/7/10.
Exiting the Track
Q: Is it illegal for a skater to exit the track on her own accord?
A: Per 6.12 it is illegal to exit the track with the exceptions listed under 6.12.1-6.12.4. Skaters must remain in bounds. No part of the skater's skate(s) may touch the ground outside the track boundary.
A skater straddling the line (simultaneously touching both inside and outside the track boundary line) must be called as No Impact/No Penalty. If she is hit into the position of straddling the boundary, she will be allowed to, legally and without penalty, exit the track in order to re-enter play legally. All cutting the track penalties will still apply (see Section 6.11). Although straddling skaters per 6.11.6 are permitted to completely exit the track in order to attempt to avoid a cutting the track penalty skaters who put themselves into a straddling position are still subject to Skating Out of Bounds Penalties.
A skater with both skates touching outside of the track boundary must receive a Major Skating Out of Bounds Penalty. All Cutting The Track penalties will still apply (see Section 6.11). Updated 8/31/10.



